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Lewis Group Limited:  
Consolidated Financial Statements

coMPAnY secRetARY ceRtIFIcAte

management have prepared the annual financial 
statements in accordance with international Financial 
Reporting standards (iFRs) and the Companies act of 
south africa.

the financial statements, which present the results and 
financial position of the company and its subsidiaries, are 
the responsibility of the directors.

in fulfilling its responsibility, the board of directors has 
approved the accounting policies applied and established 
that reasonable and sound judgements and estimates 
have been made by management when preparing the 
financial statements.

adequate accounting records and an effective system 
of internal controls have been maintained to ensure 
the integrity of the underlying information. internal 
audit has performed a written assessment confirming 
the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal 
control and risk management, including internal financial 
controls.  the board is satisfied that the system of 
internal controls, which includes internal financial 
controls, operates effectively.

a well established control environment, which 
incorporates risk management and internal control 
procedures, exists to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risk 
facing the business is being adequately managed. the 
board confirms that during the period under review the 

group has maintained an efficient and effective process 
to manage key risks. the directors are not aware of any 
current or anticipated key risks that may threaten the 
sustainability of the business.

the board of directors has reviewed the business of the 
group together with budget and cash flows for the year 
to 31 march 2014 as well as the current financial position 
and have no reason to believe that the group will not be 
a going concern for the foreseeable future. the going 
concern basis has therefore been adopted in preparing 
the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers inc., as external auditors, have 
examined the financial statements and their report 
appears on pages 4.

the financial statements of the group and the company 
for the year ended 31 march 2013, which appear on pages 
10 to 54 have been approved by the board of directors 
and signed on their behalf by:

DM nUReK J ensLIn
Chairman Chief executive officer

Cape town
22 may 2013

DIRectoRs’ ResPonsIBILItY stAteMent

in my capacity as company secretary, i hereby confirm to the best of my knowledge and belief that all returns required of 
a public company have, in respect of the year under review, been lodged with the Registrar of Companies and that all such 
returns are true, correct and up to date.

MG McconneLL 

Company secretary

22 may 2013
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InDePenDent AUDItoR’s RePoRt to tHe 
sHAReHoLDeRs oF LeWIs GRoUP LIMIteD

We have audited the consolidated and separate  
financial statements of lewis Group limited set out on 
pages 10 to 54, which comprise the balance sheets as at 
31 march 2013, and the income statements, statements of 
changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies, other explanatory 
information and annexure a.

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial statement

the company's directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
and separate financial statements in accordance with 
international Financial Reporting standards and the 
requirements of the Companies act of south africa, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated and separate financial statements based on 
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
international standards on auditing. those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated and seperate 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  the procedures selected depend on 
the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. an audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

opinion 

in our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate balance sheets of lewis 
Group limited as at 31 march 2013, and its consolidated 
and separate income statements and its consolidated 
and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with international Financial Reporting 
standards and the requirements of the Companies act of 
south africa.

other reports required by the companies Act

as part of our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements for the year ended 31 march 2013, we 
have read the directors’ Report, the audit Committee’s 
Report and the Company secretary’s Certificate for 
the purpose of identifying whether there are material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the audited 
consolidated and separate financial statements. these 
reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. 
Based on reading these reports we have not identified 
material inconsistencies between these reports and the 
audited consolidated and separate financial statements. 
However, we have not audited these reports and 
accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Pricewaterhousecoopers Inc.
director: Z abrahams
Registered auditor

Cape town
22 may 2013
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Lewis Group Limited:  
Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRectoRs’ RePoRt

nature of Business

lewis Group limited is a holding company listed on 
the Jse limited, operating through two main trading 
subsidiaries, lewis stores Proprietary limited and 
monarch insurance Company limited. lewis stores 
Proprietary limited offers a selected range of furniture 
and appliances through 477 lewis, 129 Best Home and 
electric and 13 my Home stores. sales are mainly on credit. 
monarch insurance Company limited, a registered short-
term insurer, underwrites Customer Protection insurance 
benefits to south african customers. in addition, there are 
also trading subsidiaries in Botswana, lesotho, namibia 
and swaziland operating under the lewis brand.

the nature of the business of the subsidiaries is set out 
on page 59.

Review of financial results and activities

the financial results and affairs of the group are reflected in 
the annual financial statements set out on pages 10 to 54.

segmental Analysis

segmental information is set out in the segmental report 
on page 15 of the annual financial statements.

share capital

the company's authorised and issued share capital 
remained unchanged during the year.

treasury shares

the group holds 9 216 928 (9.2%) of its own shares through 
its subsidiary, lewis stores Proprietary limited. Refer note to 
8.1 and 8.2 for more detail.

in addition the lewis employee incentive scheme trust 
effectively holds 405 681 shares, all of which will be 
utilised to  cover share awards granted to executives. 
details have been set out in note 8 and 18.3 to the 
financial statements.

Dividends

the following dividends have been declared or proposed 
for the financial year ended 31 march 2013:

Dividend 
Per share

Date 
Declared Payable

interim - declared 212 cents
12 november 

2012
21 January  

2013

Final - proposed 302 cents 22 may 2013 22 July 2013

For the year 514 cents

notice is hereby given that a final gross cash dividend of 302 
cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 march 2013 
has been declared payable to holders of ordinary shares.

the number of shares in issue as of the date of 
declaration is 98 057 959.

the dividend has been declared out of income reserves 
and is subject to a dividend tax of 15%. the dividend 
for determining the dividend tax is 302 cents and the 
dividend tax payable is 45.3 cents for shareholders who 
are not exempt. no stC credits have been utilised. the 
net dividend for shareholders who are not exempt will 
therefore be 256.7 cents. the dividend tax rate may be 
reduced where the shareholder is tax resident in a  
foreign jurisdiction which has a double tax Convention 
with south africa and meets the requirements for a 
reduced rate.

the company’s tax reference number is 9551/419/15/4

the following dates are applicable to this declaration:

last date to trade ‘cum’  
dividend  Friday 12 July 2013

date trading commences ‘ex’ 
dividend monday 15 July 2013

Record date Friday 19 July 2013

date of payment monday 22 July 2013

share certificates may not be dematerialised or 
rematerialised between monday 15 July 2013 and Friday 
19 July 2013, both days inclusive.

Directors

there were no changes to the board of directors this  
year. in terms of the articles of association of the 
company the following will retire and have offered 
themselves for re-election:

BJ van der Ross
ZBm Bassa
msP marutlulle

company secretary

mG mcConnell remained as company secretary throughout 
the year.  the address of the company secretary is that of 
the registered offices as stated on page 1.

Directors’ Interests

at 31 march 2013, the directors’ beneficial direct and indirect 
interest in the company’s issued shares were as follows:

2013 2012

Direct Indirect direct indirect

dm nurek  –  10 000  –  10 000 

H saven  –  2 940  –  2 940 

aJ smart  319 070  –  319 070  – 

J enslin  20 000  44 856  –  39 848 

la davies  141 185  37 725  96 144  34 812 

480 255  95 521  415 214  87 600 
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DIRectoRs’ RePoRt (continued)

the following share awards have been made to directors:

J enslin 262 499
la davies 202 691

Full details of the terms and conditions in relation 
to these share awards are set out in note 18.4 to the 
financial statements.

during the course of the year, no director had a material 
interest in any contract of significance with the company 
or any of its subsidiaries that could have given rise to a 
conflict of interest.

no related party transaction in terms of the Jse limited 
listing requirements took place between the group and its 
directors or their associates, other than remuneration for 
services rendered to the company as set out in note 18.4 
to the financial statements.

subsidiary companies

details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out on  
page 54.

the company’s interest in the aggregate profits and losses 
after taxation of the subsidiary companies is as follows:

2013 2012

Rm Rm

Profit 914.6 811.5

losses – (1.6)

Borrowing Powers

Borrowings were R 1 505.5 million at 31 march 2013  
(2012: R1 074.0 million). Borrowings are subject to the 
treasury policy adopted by the board of directors. 
in terms of the articles of association, the group has 
unlimited borrowing powers. 
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Lewis Group Limited:  
Consolidated Financial Statements

the audit Committee (‘the committee’) has pleasure in 
submitting its report for the year-ended 31 march 2013 in 
compliance with the section 94(7) of the Companies act 
of 2008, as amended.

Introduction
the committee has an independent role with 
accountability to the board. the committee operates in 
accordance with a documented charter and complies with 
all relevant legislation, regulation and governance codes. 
the committee’s terms of reference are reviewed annually 
and approved by the board.

the committee’s role and responsibilities includes its 
statutory duties and further responsibilities as assigned 
by the board. the audit committee executed its duties in 
terms of the requirements of King iii.

the committee acts as the audit Committee for all the 
subsidiaries in the lewis Group except for monarch 
insurance Company limited (‘monarch’) which has its own 
audit and Risk Committee. 

objectives 
the objectives of the committee are:

 – to assist the board to discharge its duties relating 
to the safeguarding of assets, the operation 
of adequate systems and controls, overseeing 
integrated reporting, reviewing of financial 
information and the preparation of interim and 
annual financial statements in compliance with 
all applicable legal requirements and accounting 
standards.

 – to facilitate and promote communication and liaison 
between the board of directors and the company’s 
management in respect of the matters referred to 
above.

 – to recommend the introduction of measures which 
the committee believes may enhance the credibility 
and objectivity of financial statements and reports 
concerning the affairs of the company.

 – to perform their statutory functions under section 
94 of the Companies act.

 – to advise on any matter referred to the committee 
by the board of directors.

Relationship with the Monarch Audit and 
Risk committee
 – due to the integrated nature of the groups systems 
and processes, the lewis Group audit Committee 
bear the responsibility relating to:

 – internal and external audit management

 – maintenance of an effective internal control system

 – in order for the monarch audit and Risk Committee 
to discharge its responsibilities under the short 
term insurance act, the lewis Group audit 
Committee refers any issues relating to these 
matters to the monarch audit and Risk Committee 
where such issues impact on monarch.

 – the duty and scope of the monarch audit and Risk 
Committee in monitoring the compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements has been extended 
to include the Financial advisory and intermediary 
services act due to its interrelationship with the 
insurance activities of the group.

 – the minutes of all monarch audit and Risk 
Committee meetings are submitted and reviewed by 
the lewis Group audit Committee.

Membership
the committee comprised the following independent non-
executive directors:

H saven (Chairman)
Z Bassa 
BJ van der Ross

Biographical details of the committee members are 
provided in the integrated report. Fees paid to the 
committee members are outlined in the table of directors’ 
remuneration in note 18.4 to the annual financial 
statements.

the Chairman of the board, Chief executive officer, 
Chief Financial officer, certain of the other non-executive 
directors and representatives of the internal and external 
auditors attend the meetings as invitees.

the Chairman of the committee also meets separately 
with the external and internal auditors, without members 
of executive management being present. the effectiveness 
of the committee is assessed as part of the annual board 
and committee self-evaluation process.

committee activities
the committee met four times during the year under 
review. attendance of the members has been set out in 
the Corporate Governance Report.

the committee attended to the following material matters:

Financial statements
 –  reviewed the interim results and year-end financial 
statements, including the public announcements 
of the company’s financial results, and made 
recommendations to the board for their approval.  in 
the course of its review, the committee :

 –  took appropriate steps to ensure that the financial 
statements were prepared in accordance with 
international Financial Reporting standards (iFRs);

AUDIt coMMIttee RePoRt 
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AUDIt coMMIttee RePoRt (continued)

 –  considered the appropriateness of accounting 
policies and disclosures made; and

 –  completed a detailed review of the going concern 
assumption and confirmed that the going concern 
assumption was appropriate in the preparation of 
the financial statements.

Integrated report
the committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the 
company’s integrated report and the reporting process.

 –  considered the company’s integrated report and 
has assessed its consistency with operational, 
financial and other information known to the audit 
committee members, and for consistency with 
the annual financial statements. the committee 
is satisfied that the integrated report is materially 
accurate, complete and reliable and consistent with 
the annual financial statements.

 –  the committee has, at its meeting held on  
20 may 2013, recommended that the integrated 
report for the year ended 31 march 2013 for approval 
by the board of directors.

external auditors
 – reviewed the independence of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers inc., the company’s 
external auditors, and the nominee for the 
appointment of the designated auditor, before 
recommending to the board that their re-election 
be proposed to shareholders (refer section on 
independence of external auditors);

 – approved, in consultation with management, the 
audit fee and engagement terms for the external 
auditors for the 2013 financial year. the fees paid to 
the auditors are disclosed in note 21 to the annual 
financial statements;

 – determined the nature and extent of allowable 
non-audit services and approved the contract terms 
for the provision of non-audit services.  it is the 
policy of the group that the auditor is restricted 
from rendering accounting, it consulting services, 
company secretarial, internal audit and human 
resource services.

 – reviewed and approved the external audit plan, 
ensuring that material risk areas were included and 
that coverage of the significant business processes 
was acceptable; and

 – reviewed the external audit reports and 
management’s response, considered their effect 
on the financial statements and internal financial 
control.

the committee was not required to deal with any 
complaints relating to accounting practices or internal 
audit, nor to the content or audit of the group’s financial 
statements, the internal financial controls and related 
matters.

Internal audit
 – reviewed and approved the existing internal audit 
charter which ensures that the group’s internal 
audit function is independent and has the necessary 
resources, standing and authority within the 
organisation to enable it to discharge its duties;

 – satisfied as to the credibility, independence and 
objectivity of the internal audit function.

 – internal audit has direct access to the committee, 
primarily through the committee’s chairman.

 – reviewed and approved the annual internal audit 
plan, ensuring that material risk areas were included 
and that the coverage of significant business 
processes was acceptable;

 – reviewed the quarterly internal audit reports, 
covering the effectiveness of internal control, 
material fraud incidents and material non-
compliance with group policies and procedures. 
the committee is advised of all internal control 
developments and advised of any material losses, 
with none being reported during the year;

 – considering and reviewing with management 
and internal auditors any significant findings and 
management responses thereto in relation to 
reliable financial reporting, corporate governance 
and effective internal control to ensure appropriate 
action is taken.

 – oversaw the co-operation between internal audit 
and external auditors, and the committee is satisfied 
that the company has optimised the assurance 
coverage obtained from management, internal and 
external assurance providers in accordance with an 
appropriate combined assurance model.

 – assessed the performance and qualification of 
the internal audit function and found them to be 
satisfactory. 
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Lewis Group Limited:  
Consolidated Financial Statements

AUDIt coMMIttee RePoRt (continued)

Internal financial control and compliance
 – reviewed and approved the group’s existing treasury 
policy and reviewed the quarterly treasury reports 
prepared by management;

 – reviewed the quarterly legal and regulatory reports 
setting out the latest legislative and regulatory 
developments impacting the group; 

 – reviewed the quarterly report on taxation; 

 – reviewed information technology reports; and

 – considered and, where appropriate, made 
recommendations on internal financial control. 

internal audit has performed a written assessment of the 
effectiveness of the company’s system of internal control 
and risk management, including internal financial controls. 
this written assessment by internal audit, as well as other 
information available to the committee, formed the basis 
for the committee’s recommendation to the board, on 
the effectiveness of the system of internal controls to be 
included in the integrated Report.

Governance of risk
the board has assigned oversight of the company’s risk 
management function to the risk committee. the minutes 
of the risk committee are made available to the audit 
committee to assist them in fulfilling its oversight role with 
respect to financial reporting risks arising from internal 
financial controls, fraud and information technology risks.

 – evaluation of expertise and experience of the chief 
financial officer and finance function

 – in terms of the Jse listings Requirements, the 
committee satisfied itself as to the appropriateness 
of the expertise and experience of the group’s chief 
financial officer. 

 – the committee has considered, and has satisfied 
itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and 
adequacy of resources of the finance function and 
experience of the senior members of management 
responsible for the financial function.

Independence of external Auditors
the committee is satisfied that PricewaterhouseCoopers 
inc. are independent of the group.  this assessment was 
made after considering the following:

 – confirmation from the external auditors that they, or 
their immediate family, do not hold any significant 
direct or indirect financial interest or have any 
material business relationship with lewis.  the 
external auditors also confirmed that they have 
internal monitoring procedures to ensure their 
independence.

 – the auditors do not, other than in their capacity as 
external auditors or rendering permitted non-audit 
services, receive any remuneration or other benefits 
from the group.

 – the auditor’s independence was not impaired by 
the non-audit work performed having regard to the 
quantum of audit fees relative to the total fee base 
and the nature of the non-audit work undertaken.

 – the auditor’s independence was not prejudiced as 
a result of any previous appointment as auditor. 
in addition, an audit partner rotation process is in 
place in accordance with the relevant legal and 
regulatory requirements.

 – the criteria specified for independence by the 
independent Regulatory Board for auditors.

 – the audit firm and the designated auditor is 
accredited with the Jse.

the committee confirms it has functioned in accordance 
with its terms of reference for the 2013 financial year.

Hilton saven
Chairman
audit Committee

22 may 2013
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IncoMe stAteMent

 
notes

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

Revenue 5 187.6 4 857.3

merchandise sales  2 470.3 2 365.4

Finance charges and initiation fees earned  1 082.6 1 055.4

insurance revenue 16  994.7 868.5

ancillary services  640.0 568.0

Cost of merchandise sales 17  (1 523.1)  (1 446.3)

Operating Costs  (2 416.9)  (2 271.9)

employment costs 18  (792.0)  (732.9)

administration and it  (202.8)  (220.7)

debtor costs 19  (539.6)  (522.3)

marketing  (191.2)  (184.5)

occupancy costs  (232.7)  (207.3)

transport and travel   (185.2)  (177.9)

depreciation  (55.1)  (48.5)

other operating costs  (218.3)  (177.8)

Operating profit 21  1 247.6  1 139.1 

investment income 22  111.8  91.9 

Profit before finance costs and taxation  1 359.4  1 231.0 

Net finance costs  (96.3)  (63.2)

interest paid 23.1  (105.2)  (82.2)

interest received 23.2  6.9  3.8 

Forward exchange Contracts 23.3  2.0  15.2 

Profit before taxation  1 263.1  1 167.8 

taxation 24  (355.7)  (367.2)

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  907.4  800.6 

earnings per share (cents) 25  1 022.4  905.0 

diluted earnings per share (cents) 25  1 012.6  895.1 
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Lewis Group Limited:  
Consolidated Financial Statements

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

net profit for the year 907.4 800.6 

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale investments 103.7 72.9 

Fair value adjustments of available -for-sale investments 141.6 87.2 

tax effect (37.9) (14.3)

disposal of available-for-sale investments recognised (15.3) (17.2)

disposal of available-for-sale investments (18.2) (19.1)

tax effect 2.9 1.9 

Foreign currency translation reserve 6.6 1.5 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders 1 002.4 857.8 

stAteMent oF coMPReHensIve
IncoMe for the year ended 31 march 2013
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BALAnce 
sHeet for the year ended 31 march 2013

notes
2013

Rm
2012
Rm

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4  332.6  311.9 

deferred taxation 12  0.6  16.1 

Retirement benefit asset 13  6.0  – 

insurance investments 5  1 238.3  1 005.3 

 1 577.5  1 333.3 

Current assets

inventories 6  305.8  281.4 

trade and other receivables 7  4 840.9  4 064.5 

insurance investments 5  465.9  373.3 

Cash on hand and deposits   59.5  77.9 

 5 672.1  4 797.1 

Total assets  7 249.6  6 130.4 

Equity and liabilities       

Capital and reserves

share capital and premium 8  88.4  95.4 

other reserves 9  397.8  277.9 

Retained earnings 10  4 348.4  3 901.3 

 4 834.6  4 274.6 

Non-current liabilities

long-term interest-bearing borrowings 11  1 250.0  650.0 

deferred taxation 12  149.4  111.4 

Retirement benefit liability 13  76.3  63.6 

 1 475.7  825.0 

Current liabilities

trade and other payables 14  211.7  237.1 

Reinsurance and insurance liabilities 15  472.1  348.7 

taxation –  21.0 

short-term interest-bearing borrowings 11  255.5  424.0 

 939.3  1 030.8 

Total equity and liabilities  7 249.6  6 130.4 
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Lewis Group Limited:  
Consolidated Financial Statements

notes
2013

Rm
2012
Rm

Share capital and premium 8

opening balance 95.4 93.5 

Cost of own shares acquired (treasury shares) (40.1)  - 

share awards to employees 33.1  1.9 

88.4 95.4

Other reserves 9

opening balance 277.9 207.1 

other comprehensive income:

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale investments 103.7 72.9 

disposal of available-for-sale investments recognised (15.3) (17.2)

Foreign currency translation reserve 6.6 1.5 

share-based payment 22.1 19.0 

transfer of share-based payment reserve to retained income on vesting (18.7) (6.5)

transfer to contingency reserve 21.5 1.1 

397.8 277.9 

Retained Earnings 10

opening balance 3 901.3 3 427.5 

net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 907.4 800.6 

distribution to shareholders 26 (428.1) (335.5)

Profit on sale of own shares 1.0 5.2 

transfer of share-based payment reserve to retained income on vesting 18.7 6.5 

transfer to contingency reserve (21.5) (1.1)

share awards to employees (30.4)  (1.9)

4 348.4 3 901.3 

Balance as 31 March 2012 4 834.6 4 274.6 

Dividends paid per share (cents)

Final dividend 2012 (2011)  270.0  207.0 

interim dividend 2013 (2012)  212.0  172.0 

 482.0  379.0 

Dividends declared per share (cents)

interim dividend 2013 (2012)  212.0  172.0 

Final dividend 2013 (2012)  302.0  270.0 

 514.0  442.0 

stAteMent oF cHAnGes
In eqUItY for the year ended 31 march 2013
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cAsH FLoW stAteMent for the year ended 31 march 2013

notes
2013

Rm
2012
Rm

Cash flow from operating activities   

Cash flow from trading  1 526.6  1 358.3 

Change in working capital  (893.8)  (385.9)

Cash generated from operations 27.1  632.8  972.4 

interest and dividends received  100.5  76.6 

interest paid  (103.2)  (67.0)

taxation paid 27.2  (358.4)  (377.4)

 271.7  604.6 

Cash utilised in investing activities

net additions to insurance business investments  (183.8)  (194.1)

acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (85.7)  (87.8)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  12.4  10.2 

 (257.1)  (271.7)

Cash flow from financing activities

dividends paid 26  (428.1)  (335.5)

increase in long-term borrowings  600.0  250.0 

(decrease) / increase in short-term borrowings.  (200.0)  50.0 

Purchase of own shares  (40.1)  - 

Proceeds on sale of own shares  3.7  5.2 

 (64.5)  (30.3)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (49.9)  302.6 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  (46.1)  (348.7)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  (96.0)  (46.1)

ANALYSIS OF BORROWINGS AND BANKING FACILITIES

Borrowings

long-term  1 250.0  650.0 

short-term  100.0  300.0 

 1 350.0  950.0 

Cash and cash equivalents

short-term facilities utilised  155.5  124.0 

Cash on hand  (59.5)  (77.9)

 96.0  46.1 

Net borrowings  1 446.0  996.1 

Unutilised facilities  704.0  753.9 

Total banking facilities  2 150.0  1 750.0 
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Reportable Segment
lewis

Rm

Best Home
and electric

Rm
my Home

Rm
Group

Rm

2013

Segment income statement

Total revenue from external customers

merchandise sales 2 039.7 351.0 79.6 2 470.3

other revenue 2 279.1 385.9 52.3 2 717.3

4 318.8 736.9 131.9 5 187.6

Cost of merchandise sales (1 257.1) (217.2) (48.8) (1 523.1)

Operating costs (2 014.0) (334.4) (68.5) (2 416.9)

Segment operating profit 1 047.7 185.3 14.6 1 247.6

Segment operating margin 24.3% 25.1% 11.1% 24.0%

Segment assets (1) 4 230.9 675.9 120.3 5 027.1

Capital expenditure  76.1  8.3  1.3  85.7 

Depreciation  48.8  5.2  1.1  55.1 

2012

Segment income statement

Total revenue to external customers

merchandise sales 1 971.0 318.0 76.4 2 365.4

other revenue 2 112.8 335.5 43.6 2 491.9

4 083.8 653.5 120.0 4 857.3

Cost of merchandise sales (1 196.3) (203.1) (46.9) (1 446.3)

Operating costs (1 902.4) (304.8) (64.7) (2 271.9)

Segment operating profit 985.1 145.6 8.4 1 139.1

Segment operating margin 24.1% 22.3% 7.0% 23.5%

Segment assets (1) 3 624.5 535.5 104.6 4 264.4

Capital expenditure  75.9  10.7  1.2  87.8 

Depreciation  43.4  4.2  0.9  48.5 

(1)  segment assets include net instalment sale and loan receivables of R4 721.3 million (2012: R3 983.0 million) and inventory of R305.8 million 

(2012: R281.4 million).

Geographical
south africa

Rm 
Blns(*)

Rm
total

Rm

2013    

Revenue  4 525.8  661.8  5 187.6 

Capital expenditure  77.0  8.7  85.7 

2012

Revenue  4 265.3  592.0  4 857.3 

Capital expenditure  81.6  6.2  87.8 

(*) Botswana, lesotho, namibia and swaziland

seGMentAL RePoRt for the year ended 31 march 2013
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notes to tHe AnnUAL FInAncIAL 
stAteMents for the year ended 31 march 2013

1. summary of accounting policies

the principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. these 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.1 Basis of preparation

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting standards 
(iFRs), iFRiC interpretations and saiCa Reporting Guidelines and under the historical cost convention, as modified 
by available-for-sale assets and financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss.

Preparation of financial statements in conformity with iFRs requires the use of certain accounting estimates. it also 
requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. the areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

Changes to accounting policies and disclosures arising from the adoption of new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to standards effective for the current year are disclosed in note 2.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

the consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and its 
subsidiaries. subsidiaries are entities in which the group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying an ownership interest of more than one half of the voting rights. the existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether 
the group controls another entity. the results of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the effective date of 
control to the date that control ceases to be exercised by the group. the accounting policies and year-ends of all 
subsidiaries are consistent throughout the group. intergroup transactions and balances, including unrealised gains 
and losses, are eliminated on consolidation.

the acquisition method of accounting is applied for business combinations. the consideration for an acquisition is 
measured as the fair value of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at 
the date of the exchange. acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. identifiable assets acquired, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. the excess of the consideration and the fair value of the non-controlling interest over the fair value 
of the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. if this is less than the fair value of the net 
assets acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement. 

in the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment. Cost is 
adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes 
directly attributable costs of investment.

employee share trusts are consolidated. shares in lewis Group limited held by subsidiaries and the share trust are 
classified as treasury shares.

1.3 Goodwill

Goodwill, being the excess of the purchase consideration and the fair value of the non-controlling interest over the 
attributable fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition, is initially carried at cost. 
Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
a potential impairment and written down to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair 
value less costs to sell. impairment is recognised immediately as an expense. impairment losses on goodwill are not 
reversed. Gains and losses on disposal of an entity include the carrying value of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

any excess in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the purchase consideration at the date of 
acquisition is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

1.4 Foreign currency translations

1.4.1 Functional and presentation currency

the financial statements of the subsidiaries are measured in the currency of the primary economic 
environment of the subsidiary (‘the functional currency’). the group and company financial statements 
are presented in south african rand, the company’s functional currency and the group and company’s 
presentation currency.
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notes to tHe AnnUAL FInAncIAL stAteMents 
for the year ended 31 march 2013 (continued)

1.4.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

transactions in foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate ruling at the transaction date. monetary 
assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. exchange 
gains and losses arising from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities at balance sheet date or on 
subsequent settlement of these monetary items are recognised in the income statement in the period in 
which they arise. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to financing activities are presented in the 
income statement within finance income or costs. all other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented 
in the income statement as other foreign exchange gains and losses. translation differences on available-for-
sale financial assets are included in other comprehensive income.

1.4.3 Foreign entities

the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries with different functional currencies (excluding loans which are 
part of the net investment) are translated at the closing rate, while income, expenditure and cash flow items 
are translated using the average exchange rate. differences arising on translation are reflected in a foreign 
currency translation reserve; a separate component of other comprehensive income. on disposal of a foreign 
subsidiary, such translation differences are recognised in the income statement as a gain or loss on the sale.

1.5 Financial instruments

1.5.1 cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held on call with banks, bank overdrafts and 
demand loans. Cash and cash equivalents are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate.

1.5.2 Derivative instruments

derivative instruments are utilised to hedge exposure to foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. 
derivatives are recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value. although the derivative instruments entered into by the group provide an 
effective economic hedge, these derivative instruments have been classified as fair value through profit and 
loss and, consequently, changes in the fair value are recognised immediately in the income statement.

1.5.3 Financial assets

investments are classified into three categories, based on the purpose for which the investment was 
acquired. the classification is determined on initial recognition. derivative instruments are accounted for in 
terms of note 1.5.2.

the investments are classified as follows:

(i)  Financial assets designated as fair value through profit and loss. a financial asset is classified as such where 
the asset is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. assets in this category are 
classified as current assets where expected to be realised within 12 months of balance sheet date. 

(ii)  available-for-sale assets are assets designated as available-for-sale or those assets that cannot be 
classified in any of the other categories of financial instruments. available-for-sale financial assets are 
included in non-current assets, unless management intends to dispose of the investment within twelve 
months of the balance sheet date.

(iii)  Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturities where management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity 
investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. if the group were to 
sell these assets, the whole category of such assets would be reclassified as available-for-sale.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, being the date that the group 
commits to the transaction. the financial assets are initially recognised at their fair value with transaction 
costs being expensed in the income statement in respect of assets classified as fair value through profit and 
loss and for other categories, added to their carrying value. assets designated as fair value through profit 
and loss and as available-for-sale are subsequently carried at fair value and are valued by reference to quoted
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notes to tHe AnnUAL FInAncIAL stAteMents 
for the year ended 31 march 2013 (continued)

1.5.3 Financial assets (continued)

bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date or, where appropriate, by discounted cash flow 
with maximum use of market inputs.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of financial assets classified 
as fair value through profit and loss are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 
Unrealised gains and losses arising from a change in fair value of available-for-sale investments are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. When investments classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the 
accumulated fair value adjustment is included in the income statement as gains and losses on investment.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

at each balance sheet date, an assessment is made as to whether there is objective evidence to impair the 
financial assets. if any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative impairment 
loss less any impairments previously recognised is removed from equity and recognised in the income 
statement. if, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an available-for-sale asset increases and the increase 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income 
statement, the impairment loss is recognised through the income statement.

1.5.4 trade and other receivables

trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or sevices performed in the 
ordinary course of business. they are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate, less a provision for impairment. the provision for impairment 
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Changes in the provision are recognised in the income 
statement. 

if collection is expected in one year or less or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer, they are 
classified as current assets. if not, they are presented as non-current assets. 

1.5.5 Financial liabilities

(i) Borrowings

  Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost. any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest rate method.

  Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(ii) trade Payables

  trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. they are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

  accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less or in the 
normal operating cycle of the business if longer. if not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

1.5.6 set-off

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when there is 
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. the assets’ residual values and 
useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 
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for the year ended 31 march 2013 (continued)

1.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. subsequent costs 
are capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits will arise and the cost can be measured reliably. 
all other expenditure is recognised through profit and loss. 

assets are depreciated to their residual value, on a straight line basis, over their estimated useful lives. the 
estimated useful lives of the assets in years are:

Buildings 50 years

Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years

Vehicles 4 to 6 years

land is not depreciated.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds to the 
carrying amount and are recognised in the income statement.  

1.7 Leased assets

leases of property, plant and equipment, where the group has a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lesser of 
the fair value of the leased assets or the present value of the minimum lease payments. lease payments are allocated, 
using the effective interest rate method, between the lease finance cost, which is included in financing costs in the 
income statement, and the capital repayment, which reduces the liability to the lessor. Capitalised leased assets are 
depreciated to their estimated residual value over the shorter of the lease period or their estimated useful lives.

leases where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases. operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

1.8 Inventories

inventory, comprising merchandise held for resale, is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is 
determined using the weighted average basis, net of trade and settlement discounts. it excludes borrowing costs. 
net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less variable selling expenses. 
Provision is made for slow moving, redundant and obsolete inventory.

1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation, but tested annually for impairment. assets 
that are subject to amortisation and depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. an impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

1.10 current and deferred taxation

the tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. in this case, the tax is 
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

the current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at 
balance sheet date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 
the group periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
legislation and regulations are subject to interpretation. appropriate provisions are established on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

deferred taxation, using the liability method, is provided on all temporary differences between the taxation base 
of an asset or liability and its carrying value. deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. deferred taxation is calculated at current or substantially enacted 
rates of taxation at balance sheet date. a deferred tax asset is raised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will arise in the foreseeable future against which the asset can be realised.
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1.10 current and deferred taxation (continued)

deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for 
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the group 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

1.11 Provisions

a provision is recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
for which it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 
pre-tax rate that takes into consideration current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the obligation. the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

1.12 Insurance business

1.12.1 classification

insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant risk. the group defines significant insurance 
risk as the possibility of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event in terms of the cover 
given to the insured.

Contracts entered into by the company with reinsurers under which the group’s insurer is compensated for 
losses on contracts issued by it and that meet the requirements for insurance contracts are classified as 
reinsurance contracts held. insurance contracts entered into by the group’s insurer under which the contract 
holder is another insurer (inwards reinsurance) are included with insurance contracts.

1.12.2 outstanding claims

Provision is made for the estimated final cost of all claims notified but not settled at the accounting date and 
claims arising from insurance contingencies that occurred before the close of the accounting period, but 
which had not been reported by that date. Claims and expenses are charged to income as incurred based 
on the estimated liability for compensation owed to insurance policyholders. the group’s own assessors 
individually assess claims. outstanding claims provisions are not discounted.

1.12.3 contingency reserve

a contingency reserve used to be required in terms of the short term insurance act, 1998. From  
1 January 2012, the contingency reserve is no longer required by the act. the group has opted to maintain 
the reserve for capital management purposes. transfers to this reserve are at 10% of premiums written less 
re-insurance and treated as an appropriation of earnings.

1.12.4 Provision for unearned premiums

the provision for unearned premiums and the reinsurer’s share of unearned premiums represents that part 
of the current year’s premiums relating to risk periods that extend to the subsequent years. the unearned 
premiums are calculated on a straight line basis over the period of the contract. the balance is disclosed 
under accounts receivable as the group manages the unearned premium provision in conjunction with their 
instalment sale and loan receivables.

1.12.5 Unexpired Risk Reserve

Provision will be made by the group for underwriting losses if it is anticipated that the unearned premiums 
at reporting date will not be sufficient to cover future claims, including claims handling fees and related 
administration costs. this liability adequacy test is peformed annually to ensure the adequacy of short-term 
insurance liabilities.
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1.12.6 Reinsurance 

income from reinsurance contracts is deferred over the period of the related reinsurance contract and is 
recognised as a current liability.

Reinsurance liabilities are premiums payable for reinsurance contracts.

the reinsurer’s share of insurance provisions is dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under 
the related reinsured insurance contracts and is measured consistently with the amounts associated with 
the reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance contract. Reinsurance 
assets are recognised in respect of unearned premiums, outstanding claims and claims incurred but not yet 
reported. the reinsurer’s share of unearned premiums is disclosed under accounts receivable as the group 
manages the reinsurers share of unearned premiums in conjunction with unearned premiums and instalment 
sale and loan receivables. 

the group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment periodically. if there is objective evidence that 
the reinsurance asset is impaired, the group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its 
recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 
impairment losses on reinsurance assets are calculated in the same manner as impairment losses on  
financial assets.

1.13 segmental information

operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the chief operating 
decision makers. the chief operating decision makers, who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief executive officer and the Chief  
Financial officer.

the group has identified its reportable segments based on the chains that it operates. these segments reflect 
how the group’s businesses are managed and reported to the chief operating decision makers. all of the business 
segments operate in the furniture retail business. set out below is a summary of the operations in each of the 
reportable segments of the group:

(i) Lewis

  lewis sells a range of household furniture, electrical appliances and home electronics to customers in the  
lsm 4 to 7 categories.

(ii) Best Home and Electric

  Best Home and electric is a retailer of electrical appliances, sound and vision equipment and furniture, 
targeting the lsm 4 to 7 customer.

(iii) My Home

  my Home is a retailer of upmarket furniture to customers in the lsm 7 to 8 categories who have a need for in-
store credit facilities.

  information regarding the performance of each segment is disclosed in the segmental report. Performance 
is measured on the basis of the operating profit (which includes the insurance underwriting result), as 
management believes that this measure is useful in evaluating the results of the segments, both in relation 
to each other and in relation to their respective competition. With respect to assets and liabilities, the chief 
operating decision makers only monitor the trade receivables and inventory for each segment. the remaining 
assets and the liabilities are reviewed on a group basis.

  the group’s segments report their segmental result and their segment assets (ie. trade receivables and 
inventory) in accordance with the group’s accounting policies. there are no significant inter-segmental 
transactions.

1.14 current assets and liabilities

Current assets and liabilities have maturity terms of less than 12 months, except for instalment sale and loan 
receivables. instalment sale and loan receivables, which are included in trade and other receivables, have maturity 
terms of between 6 to 36 months but are classified as current as they form part of the normal operating cycle.



22 Lewis Group Limited 
integrated annual Report 2013

23Lewis Group Limited 
integrated annual Report 2013

notes to tHe AnnUAL FInAncIAL stAteMents 
for the year ended 31 march 2013 (continued)

1.15 share capital

ordinary shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares 
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration 
paid, including the costs attributable to the acquisition, is deducted from the group’s equity until the shares 
are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration 
received, net of transaction costs, is included in the group’s equity. the weighted average number of shares 
is reduced by the treasury shares for earnings per share purposes. dividends received on treasury shares are 
eliminated on consolidation.

1.16 employee benefits

1.16.1 Retirement plans

a defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity. the group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods. a defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

the group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution plans, the assets of which are held 
in separate trustee-administered funds. these plans are funded by payments from employees and group 
companies, taking into account the recommendations of independent, qualified actuaries. the defined benefit 
obligation is assessed annually by a qualified actuary, in terms of ias 19, using the projected unit credit method.

the liability in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligations 
at the balance sheet date minus the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for any unrecognised 
past service cost. the present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by the estimated future 
cash outflows using interest rates of government securities which have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related liability.

to the extent that actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions exceed the greater of 10% of the fund’s obligation or plan assets at the end of the previous 
reporting period, the excess is charged or credited to income over the average remaining service lives of 
employees. actuarial surpluses are not accounted for unless the group has a legal right to such surpluses.

Past service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are 
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). in this 
case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight line basis over the vesting period.

the group’s contributions to the defined contribution pension plans are charged to the income statement in 
the year to which they relate and have been included in employment costs.

1.16.2 Post retirement healthcare costs

the group has an obligation to provide post-retirement medical aid benefits by subsidising medical aid 
contributions of certain retired employees and ex-gratia pensioners, who joined the group prior to  
1 august 1997. the post-retirement healthcare costs are assessed annually by a qualified independent 
actuary using the projected unit credit method. the cost of providing these subsidies and any actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised in the income statement immediately. the post-retirement healthcare benefit is 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows using an appropriate discount rate.

1.16.3 share based payments

the group operates a number of equity-settled share incentive schemes under which the entity receives 
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the group. the fair value of 
the employee services received in exchange for the grant of share awards and options is recognised as an 
expense. the total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair 
value of share awards and options granted, excluding the impact of service and non-market performance 
vesting conditions. non-market performance and service vesting conditions are included in the assumptions 
about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. the total amount expensed is 
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 
at each balance sheet date, the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected 
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1.16.3 share based payments (continued)

to become exercisable. it recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income 
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. any accelerated vesting of the share awards and 
options requires immediate recognition of the remaining expense. on vesting, the attributable value of share 
awards is transferred from the share based payment reserve to retained income.

share awards granted by the company over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary 
undertakings in the group are treated as a capital contribution. the fair value of employee services received, 
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to 
investment in subsidiary and a corresponding credit to equity.

1.16.4 Leave pay accrual

employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as they accrue to employees. an accrual is made for 
the estimated liability for annual leave still owing as a result of services provided by employees up to the 
balance sheet date.

1.17 trading cycle

the group’s trading cycle, consistent with prior financial periods, ends on the fifth day after the month being 
reported on, unless such day falls on a sunday, in which case it ends on the fourth day.

1.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recorded at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and comprises merchandise 
sales net of discounts, earned finance charges, earned tV and appliance service contracts, cartage and insurance 
premiums earned, net of reinsurance premiums paid. Value added tax is excluded.

(i) Merchandise Sales

  Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised on the date of delivery. sales are mainly conducted as follows:

 (a)   by instalment sale and loan agreements. such agreements are usually subject to credit legislation in the 
jurisdictions that the group operates.

 (b) cash and open accounts

(ii) Finance charges and initiation fees earned

  For contracts concluded in south africa, finance charges are recognised by reference to the daily principle 
outstanding and the effective interest rate implicit in the agreement. For contracts concluded outside south 
africa, finance charges are recognised on a sum-of-digits basis which approximates the effective interest rate. 
initiation fees are recognised over the period of the contract on an effective yield basis.

(iii) Insurance Revenue

  insurance revenue consists of gross insurance premiums and reinsurance commission earned less reinsurance 
premiums. insurance premiums are recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the contract, after 
an appropriate allowance is made for commission and reinsurance. Reinsurance commission is earned on a 
straight line basis over the period of the contract.

(iv) Ancillary Services

  Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognised over a 24-month period to ensure a reasonable profit 
margin. Revenue from the provision of other services is recognised when the services are rendered.

(v) Interest and Dividends

  interest on investments is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the effective yield on the 
assets. dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

1.19 Debtor costs

debtor costs are bad debts written off, net of recoveries, plus the movement in the debtors’ impairment provision

2. changes in accounting policies and disclosures

2.1 Reclassification of initiation fee income - Income statement

initiation fee income was reclassified during the current period from ancillary services to finance charges earned.  
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in terms of ias 8 (accounting Policies), both classes of income are categorised as revenue and the reclassification 
has no impact on total revenue for the current or comparative period. the comparative information has been 
restated and the effect on the financial statements is as follows:

Previously reported Currently reported

Finance charges and initiation fees earned  908.2  1 055.4

ancillary services  715.2  568.0 

Revenue  4 857.3  4 857.3

2.2 Reclassification of reinsurance and insurance liabilities - Balance sheet

insurance provisions and amounts due to reinsurers have been reclassified from trade and other payables to 
reinsurance and insurance liabilities on the face of the balance sheet. the comparative information has been 
restated and the effect on the financial statements is as follows:

Previously reported Currently reported

trade and other payables  585.8  237.1 

Reinsurance and insurance liabilities – 348.7

2.3 other standards, interpretations, revisions and amendments effective for the current year

the following revisions and amendments to standards and interpretations have become effective for the current 
financial reporting year, but have had no material impact on the group’s results, financial position or disclosure:

iFRs 7: Financial instruments: additional disclosures regarding derecognised financial assets 

ias 12: income taxes amendments relating to investment properties

3. critical accounting estimates and judgements

estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. in the preparation of the 
financial statements, the following key estimates were made in determining the assets and liabilities of the group:

3.1 Impairment of receivables

a discounted cash flow model using the contractual interest rate on the expected future collections from 
customers is applied. the cash flows are calculated using the payment ratings of customers at the balance sheet 
date. Payment ratings assess the customer’s actual payment pattern as compared to the contractual payments. 
Customer payment ratings are affected by the overall economic and credit environment such as the levels of 
employment and interest rates and, consequently, the impairment provision will be dependent on the changing 
financial circumstances of our customers. 

3.2 Bad debts

Customer accounts are written off, once it is assessed that the customer is no longer in a position to service the account.

3.3 share-based payment

the share-based payment was valued in terms of an option pricing model. details of the option pricing model and 
the assumptions used are detailed in note 18.2.

3.4 normal and deferred taxation

the tax and deferred tax liabilities and assets are calculated using considered interpretations of the tax laws of the 
jurisdictions in which the group operates. 

3.5 Retirement benefits

the underlying actuarial assumptions are set out in note 13.

3.6 Useful lives and residual values of fixed assets

the estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually taking cognisance of historical trends for that 
class of asset and the commercial and economic realities at the time.
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Land &
Buildings

Rm

Vehicles 
furniture 

fixtures &
equipment

Rm
Total

Rm
4. Property, plant and equipment

Group
As at 31 March 2013
opening net carrying value  114.9  197.0  311.9 
additions  85.7  85.7 
disposals  (9.9)  (9.9)
depreciation  (1.1)  (54.0)  (55.1)
Closing net carrying value  113.8  218.8  332.6 

Cost  123.7  559.0  682.7 
accumulated depreciation  (9.9)  (340.2)  (350.1)

As at 31 March 2012
opening net carrying value  116.0  162.7  278.7 
additions  87.8  87.8 
disposals  (6.1)  (6.1)
depreciation  (1.1)  (47.4)  (48.5)
Closing net carrying value  114.9  197.0  311.9 

Cost  123.7  506.3  630.0 
accumulated depreciation  (8.8)  (309.3)  (318.1)

a register of the group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the company’s registered office.

5. Insurance investments
2013

Rm
2012
Rm

listed investments    

    listed shares - available-for-sale  583.3  442.9 

    Fixed income securities - available-for-sale  655.0  562.4 

Unlisted investments
    money market – available-for-sale  465.9  373.3 

 1 704.2  1 378.6 

analysed as follows:
non-current  1 238.3  1 005.3 

Current  465.9  373.3 

 1 704.2  1 378.6 

Movement for the year 
Beginning of the year  1 378.6  1 097.3 

net additions to investments  202.0  213.2 

movement in fair value transferred to equity  123.6  68.1 

end of the year  1 704.2  1 378.6 

a register of listed investments is available for inspection at the company’s registered office. Regular purchases 
and sales of financial assets are accounted for on the trade date.

6. Inventories
Cost of merchandise  342.6  313.7 

less: provision for obsolescence  (36.8)  (32.3)
 305.8  281.4 
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

7. trade and other receivables

instalment sale and loan receivables  6 958.3  5 871.1 

Provision for unearned finance charges and unearned maintenance income  (280.8)  (280.9)

Provision for unearned initiation fees  (129.8)  (109.8)

Provision for unearned insurance premiums  (829.2)  (622.2)

Unearned insurance premiums  (1 346.6)  (1 012.3)

less: re-insurer’s share of unearned premiums  517.4  390.1 

net instalment sale and loan receivables  5 718.5  4 858.2 

Provision for impairment  (997.2)  (875.2)

 4 721.3  3 983.0 

other receivables  119.6  81.5 

 4 840.9  4 064.5 

amounts due from instalment sale and loan receivables after one year are reflected as current, as they form part of 
the normal operating cycle. the credit terms of instalment sale and loan receivables range from 6 to 36 months.

8. share capital and premium

8.1 share capital and premium

share capital  1.0  1.0 

share premium  2 710.6  2 710.6 

Reverse acquisition reserve  (2 123.1)  (2 123.1)

 588.5  588.5 

treasury shares:

lewis stores Proprietary limited   (477.8)  (477.8)

lewis employee share incentive scheme trust  (22.3)  (17.2)

total share capital and premium  88.4  93.5 

the average market price paid for the shares repurchased by the company and the treasury shares held by lewis 
stores Proprietary limited was R50.45, with the lowest price being R32.99 and the highest R65.90.

on listing, lewis Group limited (‘lewis Group’) acquired the total shareholding of lewis stores Proprietary 
limited (‘lewis stores’) through issuing shares to the shareholder at that date. in terms of iFRs 3 requirements 
for reverse acquisitions, lewis stores was the acquirer and lewis Group the acquiree, although lewis Group 
is the holding company and lewis stores the subsidiary. the group financial statements were in substance a 
continuation of the operations of lewis stores from the date that the reverse acquisition took place.

8.2 number of ordinary shares in issue 000’s 000’s

number of shares issued 98 058 98 058

treasury shares held by:

lewis stores Proprietary limited (9 217) (9 217)

lewis employee share incentive scheme trust (406) (305)

number of shares in issue 88 435 88 536
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

9. other reserves

Comprising:

Fair value reserve  285.9  197.5 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (14.3)  (20.9)

share-based payment reserve  44.1  40.7 

statutory insurance contingency reserve  81.3  59.8 

other  0.8  0.8 

 397.8  277.9 

detailed movements in the other reserves are disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.

10. Retained earnings

Comprising:

Company  77.7  84.8 

Consolidated subsidiaries  4 270.7  3 816.5 

 4 348.4  3 901.3 

distribution by certain foreign subsidiaries will give rise to withholding taxes of R59.4 million (2012: R 49.6 million) 

which may be offset in certain instances against south african tax. 

11. Interest-bearing borrowings

long-term 1 250.0 650.0 

short-term 255.5 424.0 

1 505.5 1 074.0 

Consisting of bank borrowings:

–  interest rates linked to three month JiBaR. the weighted average interest rate at  
the end of the reporting period is 7.2% (2012: 7.8%) 1 050.0  650.0 

–  at fixed interest rates. the weighted average interest rate at the end of the reporting 
period is 8.1% (2012: 8.1%) 300.0  300.0 

– demand loans at short-term money market rates 155.5  124.0 

 1 505.5  1 074.0 

the exposure of the group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of 
the reporting period are set out below in terms of financial reporting years:

Variable interest rates:

2013  –  300.0 

2014  100.0  100.0 

2015  250.0  250.0 

2016  700.0  – 

Fixed interest rates:

2015  300.0  300.0 

on demand  155.5  124.0 

 1 505.5  1 074.0 

the above borrowings are unsecured. the group’s has committed facilities of R2 150 million (2012: R 1 750 million).
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

12. Deferred Taxation

Balance at the beginning of the year  95.3  65.0 

movement for the year attributable to:

income statement credit  18.3  17.9 

deferred tax on fair value adjustment in other comprehensive income  35.2  12.4 

Balance at the end of the year  148.8  95.3 

this balance comprises

Capital allowances  30.0  26.5 

available-for-sale assets  66.8  31.6 

debtors allowances  158.5  120.8 

income and expense recognition  (1.0)  (0.1)

other provisions  (105.5)  (83.5)

Balance at the end of the year  148.8  95.3 

disclosed as:

Deferred tax asset  (0.6)  (16.1)

Deferred tax liability  149.4  111.4 

 148.8  95.3 

13. Retirement Benefits

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

defined benefit retirement plan asset  (6.0) –

defined benefit retirement plan (asset) / liability  1.9  2.0 

Post-retirement healthcare benefits  74.4  61.6 

 70.3  63.6 

Retirement plans

the group operates a number  of retirement funds, all of which are held separate from the group’s assets. there 
are three defined contribution funds; namely the lewis stores Provident Fund; the lewis stores namibia Provident 
Fund for namibian employees; and the  saCCaWU Provident Fund for employees belonging to the saCCaWU 
trade Union. in addition, there are two defined benefit funds; namely the lewis stores Group Pension Fund which 
was closed to new members on 1 July 1997; and the lewis stores Retirement Fund for executive management. Both 
defined benefit plans are registered under the Pension Funds act no. 24 of 1956.

the number of employees on these plans are as follows:  No. of Employees 

lewis stores Group Pension Fund  170  193 

lewis stores Retirement Pension Fund  29  28 

saCCaWU Provident Fund  1 377  1 190 

lewis stores Provident Fund  3 617  3 547 

lewis stores namibia Provident Fund  197  170 
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

13. Retirement Benefits (continued)
 Defined benefit plans

the defined benefit funds are final salary defined benefit plans. these schemes are 
valued by an independent actuary on an annual basis in terms of ias 19 using the 
projected unit credit method. the latest valuation was carried out as at 1 January 2013.

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
(i)  Defined Benefit Plans
Present value of obligations 426.0 384.5 
Fair value of plan assets (448.8) (395.4)

(22.8) (10.9)
Unrecognised actuarial gains 16.8 10.9 
defined benefit retirement plan (asset) / liability (6.0)  – 
(ii) Unfunded Retirement Benefits
Present value of obligations 2.2 2.1 
Unrecognised actuarial losses (0.3) (0.1)
Retirement benefit liability 1.9 2.0 
(iii) total Retirement Benefit (Asset) / Liability
Present value of obligations 428.2 386.6 
Fair value of plan assets  (448.8) (395.4)

(20.6) (8.8)
Unrecognised actuarial gains 16.5 10.8 
defined benefit retirement plan (asset) / liability (4.1) 2.0 

Total amounts recognised in the income statement
Current service cost 11.3 10.9 
interest cost 33.8 29.5 
expected return on plan assets (38.7) (35.7)
net actuarial losses recognised in the year  –  4.1 
total included in employment costs 6.4 8.8 

Total movement in retirement benefit (asset) / liability 
Present value at the beginning of the year 2.0 4.4 
income statement charge 6.4 8.8 
Contributions paid during the year (12.5) (11.2)
Present value at the end of the year (4.1) 2.0 

Total present value of defined benefit obligations
Beginning of year 386.6 352.9 
Current service cost 11.3 10.9 
interest cost 33.8 29.5 
employee contributions 1.4 1.5 
Benefit payments (35.2) (23.8)
actuarial loss 30.3 15.6 
end of year 428.2 386.6 

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets
Beginning of year 395.4 374.3 
employee contributions 1.4 1.5 
employer contributions 12.5 11.2 
expected return 38.7 35.7 
Benefit payments (35.2) (23.8)
actuarial (loss) / gain 36.0 (3.5)

end of year 448.8 395.4 
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

13. Retirement Benefits (continued)
Principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
discount rate 8.00% 9.00%
expected return on plan assets 8.45% 10.00%
inflation rate 6.00% 6.50%
Future salary increases 7.00% 7.75%
Future pension increases 6.00% 6.50%
assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on advice, published 
statistics and experience. the average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at  
age 65 on valuation date is as follows:
male 14.5 years 15.0 years
Female 16.9 years 16.9 years
actual return on plan assets 18.2% 10.0%

the employer’s future contribution is set on an annual basis in consultation with the 
fund’s actuary. 

the expected return on plan assets (net of tax) is obtained by applying the expected long-
term rate of return (net of tax) on plan assets to the fair value of plan assets.

Plan Assets

the major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan 
assets are as follows:

2013
%

2012
%

Cash  10.5  23.3 
Bonds  14.6  13.5 
equity  49.7  40.2 
international equity  15.4  13.2 
international bonds  8.0  8.3 
other  1.8  1.5 

 100.0  100.0 

Experience Adjustments
Gain/(Loss)

Trends
Obligation

Rm

Plan
Assets

Rm

Plan
Liabilities

Rm

2013 428.2  36.0  (30.3)
2012  386.6  (3.5)  (15.6)
2011  352.9  18.9  (8.1)
2010  325.9  23.8  (26.7)
2009  331.0  (50.8)  20.1 

2008  345.8  24.4  (22.3)

Defined contribution plans
2013

Rm
2012
Rm

For defined contribution plans, the group pays contributions to the funds on a 
contractual basis. once the contributions have been paid, the group has no further 
payment obligations.

defined contribution plan costs 31.0 28.0 
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

13. Retirement benefits - continued

Post-retirement healthcare benefits

the group provides a subsidy of medical aid contributions to retired employees. only those 
employees employed prior to 1 august 1997 qualify for this benefit. the liability was valued 
as at 31 march 2013 by a qualified actuary in accordance with the requirements of ias 19. 
the group has a commitment to meet these unfunded benefits.

Amounts recognised in the income statement

Current service cost 0.9 0.8 

interest cost 5.0 4.5 

actuarial loss 10.3 4.3 

income statement charge 16.2 9.6 

Movement in post-retirement healthcare liability 

Present value of liability at the beginning of the year 61.6 55.0 

Charged to income statement 16.2 9.6 

employer benefit payments (3.4) (3.0)

Post-retirement healthcare benefits liability 74.4 61.6 

Present value of post-retirement healthcare obligations

Beginning of year 61.6 55.0 

Current service cost 0.9 0.8 

interest cost 5.0 4.5 

Benefit payments (3.4) (3.0)

actuarial gain 10.3 4.3 

end of year 74.4 61.6 

Principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Healthcare inflation rate 6.20% 6.00%

CPi inflation 6.20% 6.00%

discount rate 8.00% 8.50%

average retirement age (years)  63  63 

Sensitivity

the effects of a 1% movement in the assumed medical aid inflation rate were as follows: Increase decrease

effect on aggregate of the current service and interest cost 1.0 (0.7)

effect on defined benefit obligation 10.8 (8.8)

Trends
Experience 
Adjustments

the trends of the present value of the obligation and experience adjustments are as follows: Obligation Gain/(loss)
2013 74.4 (4.0)
2012 61.6 (1.0)
2011 55.0 (7.8)
2010 43.8 1.1
2009 42.7 0.2
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

14. Trade and other payables

trade payables 55.6 71.1 
accruals and  other payables 156.1 166.0 

211.7 237.1 

15. Reinsurance and insurance liabilities
due to reinsurers 202.4 147.2 
Reinsurance and insurance provisions 269.7 201.5 

472.1 348.7 

16. Insurance Revenue
Gross insurance premiums 1 158.0 946.1 
Reinsurance commission 338.6 287.4 
Reinsurance premiums (501.9) (365.0)

994.7 868.5 

17. Cost of Merchandise Sales
Purchases 1 547.5 1 471.4
movement in inventory (24.4) (25.1)
Cost of merchandise sales 1 523.1 1 446.3

merchandise Gross Profit 947.2 919.1 

18. Directors and Employees
18.1 Employment costs

salaries, wages, commissions and bonuses 707.8 662.4 
Retirement benefit costs 53.6 46.5 
share-based payments 22.1 19.0 
other employment costs 8.5 5.0 

792.0 732.9 
18.2 Share-based payments

as the fair value of the services received cannot be measured reliably, the services 
have been valued by reference to the fair value of shares and options granted. the 
fair value of such options and shares is measured at the grant date using the Black-
scholes model.

in terms of iFRs 2, share-based payments are required to be expensed over 
the vesting period. any accelerated vesting of the awards and options requires 
immediate recognition of the unrecognised portion.
Value of services provided:

in respect of share awards and options granted  subsequent to date of listing  
(refer to note 18.3)

22.1 19.0

R R
significant assumptions used were:

Weighted average share price 65.03 58.89
Weighted average expected volatility 59.2% 64.1%
Weighted average expected dividend yield 5.4% 5.8%
Weighted average risk-free rate (bond yield curve at date of grant) 7.2% 7.6%
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2013 2012

18.3 Share Incentive Schemes 

the employee share incentive schemes are in operation for employees, executives and 
directors holding salaried employment office. the aggregate number of shares which 
may be utilised for these schemes shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of 
the company.

Lewis Executive Performance Scheme

in terms of the scheme, senior executives have been offered the right to acquire 
shares of the group for no consideration subject to the achievement of performance 
targets. the shares will vest after three years and is conditional upon the executive 
still being in the employ of the company other than in the event of death, ill-health, 
retirement or retrenchment.  

the performance targets are set by the Remuneration and nomination Committee 
and are approved by the board. these targets will be set at the beginning of each of 
the three years and a proportionate number of the shares granted will be allocated to 
each year.

no performance shares will accrue if the group achieves less than 90% of target. any 
achievement between 90% and 100% of target will result in a proportionate accrual of 
shares weighted towards 100% of target.

Beginning of year  1 243 408  1 371 091 

Granted  229 271  204 517 

Forfeited  (3 789)  (146 146)

Vested  (403 469)  (186 054)

end of year  1 065 421  1 243 408 

Lewis Co-investment Scheme

senior executives are eligible for an annual bonus based on achievement of 
performance targets. these eligible executives can elect to invest all or part of their 
net bonus in the group’s shares (‘invested shares’).

these shares are deferred for three years and matching shares equal to the before 
tax bonus are awarded for no consideration at the end of the period. the matching 
share award will lapse, should the executive terminate his or her employment before 
the completion of the three year period other than in the event of death, ill-health, 
retirement or retrenchment.

the grant in respect of the matching share option is as follows:

Beginning of year  213 663  198 983 

Granted  81 312  107 051 

Forfeited   –  (42 157)

Vested  (42 652)  (50 214)

end of year  252 323  213 663 

invested shares paid for through the investment of executives net bonuses amounted 
to 151 137 shares (2012: 127 941 shares).  these shares are held by the trust on the 
executives’ behalf. 
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2013
R 

2012
R

18.4 Directors’ Emoluments

Non-executive Directors - fees as directors

dm nurek - company  749 500  715 000 

- for subsidiary  176 000  165 000 

H saven - company  607 250  578 000 

- for subsidiary  229 000  215 000 

aJ smart - company  446 750  425 000 

- for subsidiary  227 000  213 000 

B van der Ross  499 000  475 000 

F abrahams  515 500  490 000 

msP marutlulle  446 750  425 000 

Z Bassa  446 750  425 000 

 4 343 500  4 126 000 

Executive Director - J Enslin (paid by subsidiary)

salary  2 790 480  2 524 128 

Bonuses paid during the year  1 640 600  2 258 000 

Contributions to pension scheme  446 477  403 860 

Contribution to medical aid  87 921  80 678 

Gains on share awards  6 428 848  3 529 085 

 11 394 326  8 795 751 

Executive Director - LA Davies (paid by subsidiary)

salary  2 195 112  2 022 696 

Bonuses paid during the year  1 314 950  1 850 000 

Contributions to pension scheme  351 218  323 631 

Contribution to medical aid  99 708  83 373 

Gains on share awards  5 440 932  3 529 085 

 9 401 920  7 808 785 

Gains on share awards - Executive Directors

J enslin

share awards vested 88 593 44 391 

offer date 10 June 2009 / 17 sept. 2009 24 June 2008

date vested 10 June 2012 / 13 nov. 2012 24 June 2011

market value on date of vesting 6 428 848 3 529 085 

Gain 6 428 848 3 529 085 

la davies

share awards vested 74 444 44 391 

offer date 10 June 2009 / 17 sept. 2009 24 June 2008

date vested 10 June 2012 / 13 nov. 2012 24 June 2011

market value on date of vesting 5 440 932 3 529 085 

Gain 5 440 932 3 529 085 
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2013 2012

18.4 Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

Outstanding share awards J Enslin LA Davies J enslin la davies

Lewis Executive Performance Scheme:

10 June 2009  34 669  34 782 

17 september 2009 80 000  53 333  120 000  80 000 

7 June 2010 38 429  31 494  38 429  31 494 

20 June 2011  31 782  25 468  31 782  25 468 

13 June 2012  37 527  29 520 

Lewis Co-Investment Scheme -

Matching Scheme Options:

10 June 2009  13 924  12 995 

7 June 2010  24 092  21 757  24 092  21 757 

20 June 2011  28 399  23 269  28 399  23 269 

13 June 2012  22 270  17 850 

 262 499  202 691  291 295  229 765 

in terms of the lewis Co-investment scheme, the trust holds 82 581 shares (2012: 74 660 shares) on behalf of the 
above directors by virtue of the investment of their bonuses into the scheme.

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

18.5 Remuneration of Key Executives

salary  9.2  9.6 

Bonus  5.2  7.8 

Retirement and medical contributions  1.9  1.5 

other benefits  -  0.4 

Gains on share awards vested  20.1  13.4 

 36.4  32.7 

Key executives comprise the directors of lewis stores Proprietary limited, the main operating subsidiary.

19. Debtor Costs

Bad debts, repossession losses and bad debt recoveries  417.6  405.4 

movement in doubtful debts provision  122.0  116.9 

 539.6  522.3 
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

20. Lease Commitments

the group leases the majority of its properties under operating leases. the lease 
agreements of certain store premises provide for a minimum annual rental payment and 
additional payments determined on the basis of turnover.

Payments on a cash flow basis:

Within one year  133.7 116.1

two to five years  299.3 292.3

over five years  – –

 433.0 408.4

Payments on a  straight line basis:

Within one year  135.3 119.2

two to five years  279.1 275.8

over five years  –  – 

 414.4 395.0

21. Operating profit is stated after

Initiation and service fees on accounts receivable  352.0 342.0 

Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2.5 4.1 

Depreciation  - owned assets  55.1 48.5 

Fees payable:

investment management fee - insurance investments  3.9 3.2 

outsourcing of it function  37.9 34.1 

 41.8 37.3 

operating lease payments on a cash flow basis  167.2 155.7 

lease adjustment  4.9 (0.8)

operating leases on a straight line basis  172.1 154.9 

Auditors’ remuneration

audit fees – current year  1.9  1.8 

other services  1.4  0.6 

 3.3  2.4 

22. Investment income

interest – insurance business  72.7  60.8 

dividends from listed investments – insurance business  20.9  12.0 

Realised profit on disposal of insurance investments  18.2  19.1 

 111.8  91.9 
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

23. Net Finance Costs

23.1 Interest paid

Bank loans and other  105.2  82.2 

23.2 Interest received

Bank and other  (6.9)  (3.8)

23.3 Forward Exchange Contracts

Realised  (2.6)  (13.1)

Unrealised  0.6  (2.1)

 (2.0)  (15.2)

23.4 Net finance costs  96.3  63.2 

24. Taxation

24.1 Taxation charge

south africa  316.1  328.7 

Foreign  39.6  38.5 

taxation per income statement  355.7  367.2 

Comprising:

normal taxation

Current year  342.5  316.4 

Prior year  (5.1)  0.2 

deferred taxation

Current year  18.3  17.6 

Prior year  –  0.3 

secondary tax on Companies (‘stC’)  –  32.7 

taxation per income statement  355.7  367.2 

24.2 The rate of taxation on profit is reconciled as follows:

Profit before taxation  1 263.1  1 167.8 

taxation calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2011: 28%)  353.7  327.0 

differing tax rates in foreign countries  6.6  7.2 

disallowances and exemptions  0.5  (0.2)

Prior years  (5.1)  0.5 

 355.7  334.5 

stC  –  32.7 

taxation per income statement  355.7  367.2 

tax rate, excluding stC 28.2% 28.6%

effective tax rate 28.2% 31.4%
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

25. Earnings per share

25.1 Weighted average number of shares 000’s 000’s

Weighted average shares for earnings and headline earnings per share 88 749 88 463 

dilution resulting  from share awards outstanding 863 983 

Weighted average shares for diluted earnings and  headline earnings per share 89 612 89 446 

diluted earnings and headline earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares assuming that all share options will 
be exercised. the dilution is determined by the number of shares that could have 
been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market price of 
the shares) less the number of shares that would be issued on the exercise of all 
the share options.  

25.2 Headline earnings Rm Rm

attributable earnings 907.4 800.6

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2.5) (4.1)

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investments (18.2) (19.1)

tax effect 3.4 3.3

Headline earnings 890.1 780.7

25.3 Earnings per share Cents Cents

earnings per share 1 022.4 905.0

diluted earnings per share 1 012.6 895.1

25.4 Headline earnings per share

Headline earnings per share 1 002.9 882.5

diluted headline earnings per share 993.3 872.8

26. Dividends Paid Rm Rm

dividend no. 12 declared on 19 may 2010 and paid on 26 July 2010

dividend no. 13 declared on 8 november 2010 and paid on 24 January 2011

dividend no. 14 declared on 23 may 2011 and paid on 25 July 2011 264.7 203.0

dividend no. 15 declared on 14 november 2011 and paid on 23 January 2012 207.9 168.7

dividends received on treasury shares: 

lewis stores Proprietary limited (44.4) (35.0)

lewis employee share incentive scheme trust (0.1) (1.2)

 428.1  335.5 
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2013
Rm

2012
Rm

27. Notes to the cash flow statements

27.1 Cash generated from operations

operating profit 1 247.6 1 139.1 

adjusted for:

share-based payments 22.1 19.0 

depreciation 55.1 48.5 

surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2.5) (4.1)

movement in debtors impairment provision 122.0 116.9 

movement in retirement benefits provision 6.7 4.2 

movement in other provisions 75.6 34.7 

1 526.6 1 358.3 

Changes in working capital: (893.8) (385.9)

increase in inventories (29.7) (28.8)

increase in trade and other receivables (891.8) (344.9)

increase / (decrease) in payables 27.7 (12.2)

632.8 972.4 

27.2 Taxation paid

amount due at the beginning of the year  (21.0)  (49.1)

amount charged to the income statement  (355.7)  (367.2)

adjustment for deferred taxation  18.3  17.9 

amount owing at the end of the year –  21.0 

 (358.4)  (377.4)

28. Financial risk management

Risk management is the identification of actual and potential areas of risk, followed by a process of risk mitigation. 
Responsibility for this process of risk management is with the Risk Working Group (RWG), a committee consisting of 
the members of the executive Committee and the company secretary. the RWG formally reports to the Risk Comittee 
on a quarterly basis. the risk working group is responsible for identifying, evaluating and monitoring all significant 
risks facing the business. members of the RWG are responsible for integrating risk management into the day to day 
activities of the business and ensuring that the staff are aware and accountable for managing risk and maintaining 
internal control.

the group is exposed to financial risks being credit risk, market risk (including currency, interest rate and price risks), 
and liquidity risk. the group manages the overall risk by focusing on minimising the potential adverse effects of these 
risks on the group’s financial performance.

the group’s primary business is that of a credit retailer. as such, credit risk features as the dominant financial risk. it 
provides the foundation of the group’s profitability, yet the mismanagement of credit risk will threaten the ongoing 
sustainability of the business.

due to its pervasive and strategic importance, credit policies are continually evaluated by the executive Committee 
to ensure that they are in line with prudent lending practices, yet maintain the group’s overall profitability and return 
on assets. the responsibility for the implementation of these policies rests with the chief operating officer, credit risk 
executive and their teams.
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28.1 credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the group’s customers and counterparties fail to 
fulfill their contractual obligations with the group. the main credit risk faced is that customers will not meet 
their payment obligations in terms of the sale agreements concluded. the maximum credit exposure is that of 
accounts receivable, fixed income securities and deposits.

i) Accounts receivable

  the  group has developed advanced credit-granting systems to properly assess the customer.  the credit 
underwriting process flows through the following stages:

 –  Credit scoring: this involves the gathering of appropriate information from the client, use of credit 
bureaus and third parties such as employers.  these input variables are run through the various credit 
scorecards.  lewis deals with its new customers and existing customers differently when credit scoring 
takes places.

  the process differs as follows:

  –      for new customers, application risk scorecards predict the risk with the emphasis for such an 
evaluation on information from credit bureaus and third-party information.

  –      for existing customers, behaviourial scorecards have been developed to assess the risk through 
predictive behaviour with the emphasis on the customer’s payment record with lewis, bureau and 
other information being considered.

 –      assessing client affordability: this process involves collecting information regarding the customer’s 
income levels, expenses and current debt obligations.  lewis has its own priority expense model based 
on surveys conducted with customers which is done annually.

 –      determining the credit limit for the customer: the customer’s risk score determined by the scorecard 
together with the expense assessment and outstanding obligations are used to calculate a credit limit 
within the customer’s affordability level.

  the credit granting systems enable the group to determine its appetite for risk.  in determining the 
acceptable level of risk, the potential loss is weighed up against the revenue potential using the predictive 
behavioural models inherent in the credit-granting system.  the group monitors any variances from the level 
of risk that has been adopted and adjusts the credit-granting process on a dynamic basis.

  the group manages its risk effectively by assessing the borrower’s ability to service the proposed monthly 
instalment.  However, collateral exists in that ownership of merchandise is retained until the customer settles 
the account in full.

  in addition, a payment rating system manages the customer’s payment profile.  a payment rating is applied 
to each customer individually and is based on the customer’s payment history relative to their contractual 
arrangements.  this payment rating is integral to the calculation of the debtor’s impairment provision in 
terms of ias 39.  ias 39 requires that all impaired receivables are carried at their net present value of the 
expected cash flows from such accounts, discounted at the original effective rate implicit in the credit 
agreement.

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

the total net receivable balance can be analysed as follows:

Receivables satisfactory paid 3 968.6 3 503.6

slow paying and non-performing receivables which have been impaired 1 749.9 1 354.6

5 718.5 4 858.2
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  the payment ratings categorise individual customers into 13 distinct categories which have been 
summarised into four main groupings:

no. of Customers
distribution of impairment 

Provision

2013 2012 2013 2012

satisfactory paid:

Customers fully up to date including 
those who have paid 70% or more of 
amounts due over the contract period. 
the provision in this category results from 
an in duplum provision.

no. 478 093 491 478 Rm 27.5 35.1

% 69.4% 72.1% % 2.8% 4.0%

slow payers:

Customers fully up to date including those 
who have paid 65% to 70% of amounts due 
over the contract period. the provision in this 
category ranges from 12% to 79% of amounts 
due and includes an in duplum provision 
(2012: 7% to 72%).

no. 58 155 55 791 Rm 111.4 104.1

% 8.5% 8.2% % 11.2% 11.9%

non-performing customers

Customers who have paid 55% to 65% 
of amounts due over the period of the 
contract. the provision in this category 
ranges from 23% to 90% of the amounts 
due (2012: 19% to 86%).

no. 55 202 45 978 Rm 177.9 137.2

% 8.0% 6.7% % 17.8% 15.7%

non-performing customers

Customers who have paid 55% or less 
of amounts due over the period of the 
contract. the provision in this category 
ranges from 33% to 100% of the amounts 
due (2012: 28% to 100%).

no. 97 093 88 265 Rm 680.4 598.8

% 14.1% 13.0% % 68.2% 68.4%

total no. 688 543 681 512 Rm 997.2 875.2

debtors impairment provision as a % of net debtors 17.4% 18.0%

the ageing of satisfactory paid receivables past due but not impaired as a percentage of satisfactory paid 
receivables is as follows:

1 instalment in arrear 4.0% 4.4%

2 instalments in arrear 2.6% 2.9%

3 instalments in arrear 1.8% 2.1%

4 instalments in arrear 1.3% 1.5%

5 or more instalments in arrear 2.7% 3.5%

12.4% 14.4%

ii) Fixed Income Securities and Deposits

  Credit risk may also arise when an entity has its credit rating downgraded causing the fair value of the 
group’s investment in that entity’s financial instruments to fall.  the credit ratings of the financial institutions 
holding deposits on our behalf and those whose securities we hold are monitored on a regular basis.

  deposits are placed with high-quality south african institutions. included in the cash on hand and deposits 
are bank balances held in foreign currency amounting to R 7.1 million (2012: R4.6 million).

  Fixed income securities are almost entirely risk-free government bonds or government-backed securities.
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28.2 Market risk

treasury management is carried out by the chief financial officer and senior members of the finance team under 
policies approved by the audit Committee (‘the Committee’). the Committee provides written treasury policies 
covering cash management, foreign exchange management, interest rate management and investment risk. 

the group’s attitude to treasury risk can be summarised as follows:

– investment risk: maximise returns at an acceptable level of risk.

– foreign exchange risk: eliminate transaction risk and net investment risk as far as practically possible.

– interest rate risk: manage short-term volatility

i) Foreign exchange risk management

 Foreign exchange risk is present in respect of imports of merchandise and the net investment in Botswana.

 Imports of merchandise

  merchandise is sourced from foreign suppliers, particularly in the Far east. in order to minimise exposure 
to foreign currency fluctuations, forward cover is taken out to cover forward purchase commitments made 
with foreign suppliers. the group strives to maintain forward cover for the next six to nine months purchase 
commitments.

  during the year, 24.6% (2012: 25.6%) of the purchases were in foreign denominated currencies. Below is a 
summary of the amounts payable under forward contracts:

term Rate

Foreign
currency

FC ‘m

Rand
equivalent

R’m

Fair value
(gain)/loss

R’m

2013
Us dollar less than 4 months Rates vary from R8.95 to R9.43 6.2 56.7 0.6

2012
Us dollar less than 3 months Rates vary from R7.53 to R8.02 7.5 58.5 (2.1)

  Below is a sensitivity analysis of the effect of currency movements of 5% and 10% respectively on the  
year-end valuation of the forward exchange contracts:

-10% -5% +5% +10%

2013

effect on (profit) / loss 4.4 2.2 (2.2) (4.4)

(increase) / decrease in equity 4.4 2.2 (2.2) (4.4)

2012

effect on (profit) / loss 4.4 2.2 (2.2) (4.4)

(increase) / decrease in equity 4.4 2.2 (2.2) (4.4)

 Net investment in foreign entities

   the currency exposure is limited to the net investment in Botswana of  R 60.1 million (2012: R 72.4 million), 
which includes a long-term loan account. the currency exposure is managed by keeping the net investment 
at a minimum practical level by remitting cash to south africa on a regular basis through loan repayments 
and dividends.
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   Below is a sensitivity analysis of the effect of currency movements of 5% and 10% on the year-end value of 
our net investment in Botswana:

-10% -5% +5% +10%

2013

(increase) / decrease in equity 6.0 3.0 (3.0) (6.0)

2012

(increase) / decrease in equity 5.0 2.5 (2.5) (5.0)

  there is no impact on profit or loss for both years.

  ii) Interest rate risk

   the principal objective of interest rate management is to:

   – minimise the impact of interest rate volatility on profits in the short-term 

   – ensure that the group is protected from volatile interest rate movements for the medium-to long-term

 Borrowings

   as part of the process of managing floating rate interest-bearing debt, the interest rate characteristics of 
borrowings are positioned according to the expected movements in interest rates. the chief financial officer 
may recommend to the audit Committee (‘the committee’) the use of fixed interest debt and interest 
rate swaps as circumstances dictate. the use of such instruments must be specifically approved by the 
committee. during the current year, no interest rate swaps were entered into.

   interest rate profiles are analysed by the changes in its borrowing levels and the interest rates applicable to 
the facilities available to the group. the sensitivity analysis for a 50 basis points change in the interest is set 
out below, assuming the current level of borrowings at year-end is maintained throughout the year:

+50bp -50bp

2013

effect on (profit) / loss 4.7 (4.7)

(increase) / decrease in equity 4.7 (4.7)

2012

effect on (profit) / loss 4.2 (4.2)

(increase) / decrease in equity 4.2 (4.2)

 Accounts receivable

   interest rates charged to customers are fixed at the date the contract is entered into. Consequently, there is 
no interest rate risk associated with these contracts during the term of the contract.

   as there is no observable market for instalment sale and loan receivables of the nature that the group holds, 
fair value is not readily available and consequently, any valuation could be misleading. therefore, no fair value 
has been disclosed.

   the average effective interest rate on instalment sale and loan receivables is 21.5% (2012: 22.3%) and the 
average term of the sale is 32.7 months (2012: 28.3 months).
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  ii) Interest rate risk - continued

  Interest Rate Profile

  the interest rate profiles of financial instruments are as follows:

term of
investment

average
closing

effective
interest

rate
%

Floating
or fixed

Carrying
Value
Rm’s

2013

Assets

Gross instalment sale and loan receivables Up to 3 years 21.5% Fixed  6 958.3 

Fixed income securities Varies 8.8% Fixed  655.0 

money market investments Up to 12 months 5.1% Floating  465.9 

Liabilities

long-term interest bearing borrowings Varies (refer to note 11) 7.4% Floating  1 250.0 

short-term interest bearing borrowings Varies (refer to note 11) 6.9% Floating  255.5 

2012

Assets

Gross instalment sale and loan receivables Up to 3 years 22.3% Fixed  5,871.1 

Fixed income securities Varies 9.0% Fixed  562.4 

money market investments Up to 12 months 5.5% Floating  373.3 

Liabilities

long-term interest bearing borrowings Varies (refer to note 11) 7.9% Floating  650.0 

short-term interest bearing borrowings Varies (refer to note 11) 7.7% Floating  300.0 

  iii) Price risk

    there is exposure to securities price risk because of investments held by monarch insurance Company 
limited (‘monarch’). these investments are classified as available-for-sale investments.

    monarch holds investments in order to meet the insurance liabilities and solvency margins required by 
the short term insurance act of 1998. the investments are managed by sanlam investment management 
(Pty) ltd (‘sanlam’) on monarch’s behalf.

   the overall management objectives of the portfolio are:

   –    preservation of capital over the long-term

   –    managing market risk over the short-to medium-term

   –    to ensure the portfolio is adequately diversified

    monarch’s board controls the investment strategy adopted by sanlam. at each of the board’s quarterly 
meetings, a comprehensive report from sanlam is presented and discussed. Particular emphasis is placed on:

   –    current market conditions and future expectations

   –    asset allocations considering the above

   –    returns under each asset category

   –    detailed reviews of the equity portfolio and the positioning of the bond portfolio

   –    recommendations of the asset manager going forward
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   the monarch board considers the recommendations of the asset managers. the investment strategy is 
then formulated for the following quarter and authority given to the chief financial officer to implement the 
strategy.  the performance of this portfolio is presented to the group’s audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

   the market risk of the fixed security portfolio is monitored through the modified duration of the portfolio, 
a measure which approximates the movement in the fair value of such securities relative to interest rate 
movements. the modified duration of the fixed income portfolio at the respective year-ends and the  
Jse all-Bond index are as follows: 

2013 2012

modified duration of monarch’s fixed income portfolio 5.1 5.4

modified duration of the Jse all Bond index 6.3 5.8

   the market risk of the equity portfolio is monitored through the portfolio’s sectoral allocation and beta. 
the respective measures for the portfolio at year-end can be summarised as follows:

Portfolio sectorial analysis:

Resources 10.7% 12.4%

Financials 28.7% 28.4%

industrial 60.6% 59.2%

Beta of portfolio relative to Jse index 1.00 0.88

Beta of portfolio relative to Jse index, excluding resources 1.02 0.99

  Beta measures the portfolio volatility relative to the market index, which by definition has a beta of 1.0.

28.3 Liquidity risk

  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities. due to the dynamic nature of the 
underlying business, the group maintains flexibility in funding through the use of committed facility lines.

  management monitors the group’s cash flows through the monitoring of actual inflows and outflows against 
forecasted cash flows and the utilisation of borrowing facilities. a quarterly analysis is presented to the audit 
Committee.

 Below is a summary of the committed facilities and the utilisation thereof at year-end:

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

total banking facilities 2 150.0 1 750.0 

less: drawn portion of facility (1 505.5) (1 074.0)

Plus cash on hand 59.5 77.9 

available cash resources and facilities 704.0 753.9 

 the maturity profile of financial liabilities has been set out in note 30.

29. Insurance Risk

the risks covered under insurance contracts entered into with customers by the group’s insurer, monarch insurance 
Company (‘monarch’), are as follows:

– settlement of customer’s outstanding balance in the event of death or disability,

– replacement of customer’s goods in the event of damage or theft of goods, and

–  settlement of customer’s account, should the customer become unemployed after three months subsequent to 
the sale.

as monarch is part of the group, the underwriting of the above insurance risks will form part of the credit assessment 
made prior to entering an instalment sale or loan with the customer for the purchase of goods.
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the risk under the insurance contract is the possibility that the insured events as detailed above occur and the 
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of the insurance contract, this risk is random and 
therefore unpredictable.

the principle risk that the group faces is that the actual claims exceed the amount of the insurance claims provisions. 
this could occur because the frequency or severity of claims are greater than estimated. insurance events are random 
and the actual number of claims will vary from year to year from the estimated claims provision established using 
historical claims patterns.

the development of insurance claims provisions provides a measure of the group’s ability to estimate the ultimate 
value of the claims. the group does not underwrite long-term risks and, consequently, the uncertainty about the 
amount and timing of claim payments is limited. Regular estimates of claims are performed in reviewing the adequacy 
of the insurance claims provisions. Claims development is reviewed by management on a regular basis.  insurance 
claim provisions will generally be settled within one year.

the frequency and severity of claims can be affected due to unforeseen factors such as patterns of crime, aids 
and employment trends. the group manages these risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance 
arrangements and proactive claims handling. the geographical spread of the group ensures that the underwritten 
risks are well-diversified. no significant concentrations of insurance risks exist.

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. this does not discharge monarch’s liability as a primary insurer. if a 
reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, monarch still remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. there is 
some exposure to concentration risk with individual reinsurers due to the nature of the reinsurance market and the 
restricted range of reinsurers that have acceptable credit ratings. 

a proportional reinsurance arrangement has been entered into by monarch to facilitate the transfer of 40% of the 
risk under these policies to an external reinsurer. Catastrophe cover has been placed with third-party insurers and 
reinsurers in order to reduce the potential impact of a single event on the earnings and capital of monarch. due to 
the nature of the insurance risk, claims can be measured reliably.  Past experience has indicated that claims provision 
estimates approximate the actual claims costs.  the insurance result is dependent on the trend in the group’s 
merchandising sales.  there is no insurance business other than with the group’s customers.

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

Movement in provisions:

(i) Unearned Premium Reserve

opening balance 622.2 562.6

Recognised in the income statement 207.0 59.6

Closing balance 829.2 622.2

Comprising:

Unearned premiums 1 346.6 1 012.3

less: reinsurers share of provision (517.4) (390.1)

net balance 829.2 622.2

(ii) Reinsurance and Insurance Provisions

Reinsurance and insurance provisions include deferred reinsurance acquisition 
reserve, outstanding claims and IBNR reserve.

opening balance 201.5 171.4

Recognised in the income statement 68.2 30.1

Closing balance 269.7 201.5

Gross reinsurance and insurance provisions 295.4 220.2

less: reinsurers share of insurance provisions (25.7) (18.7)

net balance 269.7 201.5
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29. Insurance Risk (continued)

Regulatory Requirements

the group's insurer, monarch insurance Company limited (‘monarch’), is required to  maintain certain insurance 
liabilities and have a minimum solvency margin of 15% as set out in the short term insurance act of 1998. FsB notice 
169 of 2011 was issued in respect of the value of assets, liabilities and capital adequacy requirements. in this notice, 
the minimum solvency is determined as either 15% as required by the act or the new solvency capital adequacy 
requirement (including valuation of assets and liabilities), the calculation of which is set out in the said notice. this 
notice has become effective from 1 January 2012.

the group insurer is required to hold certain prescribed assets to meet its insurance liabilities and solvency margins. 
these assets are subject to various limits in order to ensure an adequate spread and diversification of assets.

monarch has met all the requirements of the short term insurance act regarding its insurance liabilities, solvency 
margins, prescribed assets and asset spread.

30. Financial Instruments

i) Categories

loans and
Receivables

available-
for-sale

amortised
Cost total

Assets

2013

insurance investments  1 704.2  1 704.2 

trade and other receivables  4 840.9  4 840.9 

Cash on hand and on deposit  59.5  59.5 

2012

insurance investments  1 378.6  1 378.6 

trade and other receivables  4 064.5  4 064.5 

Cash on hand and on deposit  77.9  77.9 

Liabilities

2013

trade payables  55.6  55.6 

Borrowings  1 505.5  1 505.5 

2012

trade payables  71.1  71.1 

Borrowings  1 074.0  1 074.0 

ii) Maturity profile of financial liabilities

 the maturity profiles of financial liabilities are as follows:

0-12 2-5 >5

months years years Total

2013

Borrowings (255.5) (1 250.0) (1 505.5)

trade payables (55.6) (55.6)

amounts due to reinsurer (202.4) (202.4)

(513.5) (1 250.0)  – (1 763.5)

2012

Borrowings (424.0) (650.0) (1 074.0)

trade payables (71.7)  –  – (71.7)

amounts due to reinsurer (147.2) (147.2)

(642.9) (650.0)  – (1 292.9)

 the fair value of trade payables and borrowings approximate their carrying values.
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iii) Fair value estimation

  the fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted prices at the balance sheet. 
the quoted market price used is the current bid price.

  the fair value of interest swaps and collars is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 
the fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the balance  
sheet dates.

iv) Fair value hierarchy

 the following table presents the assets and liabilities that are recognised and subsequently measured at fair value:

level 1 level 2 total

2013

available-for-sale assets:

insurance investments:

equities 583.3 583.3

Fixed income securities 655.0 655.0

money market 465.9 465.9

Forward exchange contracts (0.6) (0.6)

1 238.3 465.3 1 703.6

2012

available-for-sale assets:

insurance investments:

equities 442.9 442.9

Fixed income securities 562.4 562.4

money market 373.3 373.3

Forward exchange contracts 2.1 2.1

1 005.3 375.4 1 380.7

  a description of the categorisation of the valuation techniques used to value the assets and liabilities at fair value 
is set out below:

 Level 1:

  Financial instruments valued with reference to quoted prices in active markets where the quoted price is readily 
available and the price represents actual and recurring market transactions on an arms length basis. an active 
market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information on 
an ongoing basis.

 Level 2:

  Financial instruments valued using inputs other than quoted prices as described for level 1, but which are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as:

–    quoted prices for similar assets / liabilities in an active market

–    quoted prices for identical or similar assets / liabilities in inactive markets

–    valuation model using observable inputs

–    valuation model using inputs derived from / corroborated by observable market data

 Level 3:

  Financial instruments valued using inputs that are not based on observable market data. the group does not have 
any assets or liabilites that fall into this category.
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for the year ended 31 march 2013 (continued)

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

31. capital Risk Management

the group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

– safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern

– provide returns for shareholders

– provide benefits for other stakeholders

– maintain an optimal capital structure as approved by the board.

in order to maintain the optimal capital structure, dividends paid to shareholders may be adjusted, capital could be 
returned to shareholders or new shares could be issued.

Consistent with others in the industry, capital is monitored on the basis of the gearing ratio. this ratio is calculated 
as net debt divided by equity capital. net debt is calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents.

during the 2012 financial year, the strategy was to maintain the gearing below 30%, which in the current credit 
conditions is considered to be prudent. the gearing rates at 31 march 2012 and 31 march 2011 were as follows:

interest-bearing borrowings 1 505 5 1 074.0

less: cash and cash equivalents (59.5) (77.9)

net debt 1 446.0 996.1

shareholders equity 4 834.6 4 274.6

Gearing ratio 29.9% 23.3%

32. contingencies

Bank guarantees given by the group to third parties. the directors are of the opinion 
that no loss will be incurred on these guarantees. 8.5 8.4

33. capital commitments

material capital commitments contracted for or authorised and contracted at the end of 
the year – –

34. Post Balance sheet events

there were no significant post balance sheet events that occurred between the year end 
and the date of approval of the financial statements by the directors.
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35. new standards and Interpretations not yet effective

the following standards, amendments resulting from the improvements Project and interpretations are not yet 
effective and have not been adopted by the group:

iFRs 7:  Financial instruments: offsetting  
Financial assets and Financial liabilities

additional disclosures regarding offsetting of financial assets 
and liabilities. 

iFRs 9: Financial instruments new standard that forms part of a three-phase project to replace 
ias 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement. 
to date, only the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and liabilities has been dealt with. the main impact is that 
classification  of financial assets is now driven by the entity’s 
business model for managing these assets. impairment and 
Hedging aspects have been issued as exposure drafts.

iFRs 10: Consolidated Financial statements this is a new standard which consolidates all previous 
statements, guidance and intepretations on consolidated 
financial statements.

iFRs 12: disclosure of interest in other entities new statement which sets out additional disclosures regarding  
interests in entities such as subsidiaries.

iFRs 13: Fair Value measurement a new standard which focuses on the measurement of fair value 
and enhancing disclosures in this area.

ias 1: amendment to classify items in other Comprehensive income 
as to whether they are recycled or not to profit or loss.

ias 19: employee Benefits significant amendments to the standard - eliminating the corridor 
method, actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive 
income, revised measurement of pension expense, treatment of 
plan expenses and additional disclosure items.

ias 32: Financial instrument disclosure amendment dealing with the offsetting of financial assets and 
liabilities.

annual improvements to iFRs issued may 2012 for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013.

management has not performed an assessment of the potential impact, if any, that the  implementation of these 
standards and interpretations will have on the consolidated financial statements.

it should be noted that iFRs 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets. 
this standard will be developed further and new requirements for classifying and measuring financial liabilities, 
derecognition of financial instruments, impairment and hedge accounting. no investigation of the impact has been 
made since the statement is still evolving. However, it is very likely that the complete standard will have a significant 
impact on the group’s accounting.
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coMPAnY IncoMe
stAteMent for the year ended 31 march 2013 (continued)

notes
2013

Rm
2012
Rm

Revenue 2 472.7 389.6

Operating Costs 3  (7.2)  (9.3)

Profit before taxation  465.5  380.3 

taxation 4  –  – 

Net profit  and comprehensive income attributable to ordinary shareholders  465.5  380.3 

coMPAnY
BALAnce sHeet for the year ended 31 march 2013

notes
2013

Rm
2012
Rm

Assets

Non-current assets

interest in subsidiaries 5  2 844.1  2 840.7 

Current Assets

deposits at bank  –  – 

Total assets  2 844.1  2 840.7 

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves

share capital and premium 6  2 711.6  2 711.6 

share-based payment reserve  44.1  40.7 

Retained earnings  77.6  84.8 

 2 833.3  2 837.1 

Current liabilities

trade and other payables  1.3  1.6 

loan from subsidiary 5  9.5  2.0 

 10.8  3.6 

Total equity and liabilities  2 844.1  2 840.7 
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coMPAnY stAteMent oF cHAnGes
In eqUItYfor the year ended 31 march 2013

share
capital

and
premium

Rm

share-
based

payment
Reserve

Rm

Retained
earnings

Rm
Total

Rm

Balance as at 1 April 2012 2 711.6  28.2 76.1 2 815.9 

net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 380.3  380.3 

dividends paid (371.6)  (371.6)

Capital contribution in respect of share-based payment 12.5  12.5 

Balance as 31 March 2012 2 711.6 40.7 84.8 2 837.1 

net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 465.5  465.5 

dividends paid (472.7)  (472.7)

Capital contribution in  respect of share-based payment 3.4  3.4 

Balance as 31 March 2013 2 711.6 44.1 77.6 2 833.3 

coMPAnY cAsH FLoW
stAteMent for the year ended 31 march 2013

 
notes

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

Cash flow from operating activities   

Cash utilised in operations 7 (7.4) (9.5)

dividends received 472.6 389.6 

465.2 380.1 

Cash flow from financing activities

dividends paid (472.7) (371.6)

loans from subsidiary companies  7.5  (8.5)

(465.2) (380.1)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  –  – 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  –  – 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  –  – 
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notes to tHe AnnUAL FInAncIAL
stAteMents for the year ended 31 march 2013 (continued)

2013
Rm

2012
Rm

1. Accounting Policies

the financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and in accordance with international 
Financial Reporting standards (iFRs) and the requirements of the Companies act. the accounting policies used in 
the preparation of these financial statements are set out on pages 21 to 29.

2. Revenue

dividends received from subsidiary - lewis stores Proprietary limited  472.7  389.6 

3. Operating Profit R R

stated after:

audit fees - current year 55 000  50 000 

other services  – 

55 000  50 000 

directors fees (refer to note 18.4 to the group financial statements) 4 343 500  4 126 000 

4. Taxation Rm Rm

taxation – –

– –

The rate of taxation on profit is reconciled as follows:

Profit before taxation 465.5 380.3 

taxation calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2012: 28%)  130.3  106.5 

(exempt income) / disallowed expenditure  (130.3)  (106.5)

taxation per income statement  –  – 

5. Interest in Subsidiaries

shares at cost  2 800.0  2 800.0 

Capital contribution for share based payment  44.1  40.7 

indebtness  (9.5)  (2.0)

 2 834.6  2 838.7 

6. Share Capital and Premium

Authorised

150 000 000  ordinary shares of 1 cent each 1.5 1.5 

Issued

98 057 959 (2012: 98 057 959) ordinary shares of 1 cent each  1.0  1.0 

share premium  2 710.6  2 710.6 

total share capital and premium  2 711.6  2 711.6 

7. Cash generated from operations

Profit before taxation  465.5  380.3 

dividends received  (472.6)  (389.6)

(decrease) / increase in trade and other payables  (0.3)  (0.2)

 (7.4)  (9.5)
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InteRest In sUBsIDIARY
coMPAnIes for the year ended 31 march 2013

2013 2012

nature
of

business

Carrying
value of

subsidiaries
Rm’s

%
Holding

Carrying
value of 

subsidiaries
Rm’s

%
Holding

Directly held

lewis stores Proprietary limited F  2 800.0 100%  2 800.0 100%

Indirectly held

Incorporated in South Africa

monarch insurance Company limited i 

Kingtimm Proprietary limited l 

lifestyle living Proprietary limited F 

Incorporated in Botswana

lewis stores (Botswana) (Pty) ltd F 

lewis insurance services (Botswana) (Pty) ltd m 

lewis management services (Botswana) (Pty) ltd d

Incorporated in Swaziland

lewis stores (swaziland) (Pty) ltd F 

Incorporated in Namibia

lewis stores (namibia) (Pty) ltd F 

lewis management services (namibia) (Pty) ltd m 

Incorporated in Lesotho

lewis stores (lesotho) (Pty) ltd F 

Cost of subsidiaries  2 800.0  2 800.0 

Capital contribution in respect of share-based payment  44.1  40.7 

Amounts due to subsidiaries

lewis stores (Pty) ltd  (9.5)  (2.0)

Interest in subsidiaries  2 834.6  2 838.7 

F    Furniture dealer

i    insurance company

m  management services company

l   Company holding property leases
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